RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Sep 08, 2015, 1:10 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

Supreme Court No. 92211-0 RECEIVED BY

### Court of Appeals No 70706-0-I

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### KELLY BOWMAN,

Appellant/Plaintiff, v.

SUNTRUST MORTGAGE, INC., a Virginia Corporation, a subsidiary of SUNTRUST BANKS, INC.; FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION, a United States government sponsored enterprise; NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC.; a Washington Corporation; MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC., a Delaware Corporation; and DOE DEFENDANTS 1-10,

Respondents/Defendants.

## **APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW**

### I. Identity of Petitioner.

The Petitioner is KELLY BOWMAN (hereinafter "Mr. Bowman"), who was the Plaintiff in the original action under King County Superior Court Case No. 13-2-08229-2 SEA and the Appellant in Court of Appeals, Division I, Case No. 70706-0-I.

### II. Court of Appeals Decision.

Mr. Bowman seeks review by the Supreme Court of the unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals filed August 10, 2015 (hereinafter "subject decision"), a copy of which is attached hereto at *Appendix "A"*.

### **III. Issues Presented for Review.**

A. Whether the subject decision to disregard the proof of ownership requirement in *RCW 61.24.030(7)(a)* conflicts with the Supreme Court's decision in *Trujillo v. NWTS*, \_\_\_\_\_\_ Wn.2d \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_\_\_ (August 20, 2015) (hereinafter "*Trujillo*")<sup>1</sup>, the Supreme Court's anticipated decision in the direct review of *Brown v Department of Commerce*, No. 90652-1, as well as *Bain v. Metropolitan Mortgage Group*, 175 Wn.2d 83, 111, 285 P.3d 34 (2012) (hereinafter "*Bain*") and *Lyons v. U.S. Bank*, 181 Wn. 2d 775, 336 P.3d 1142 (2014) (hereinafter "*Lyons*"), conflicts with this Court's precedents requiring that statutes be interpreted to avoid rendering statutory language superfluous and to harmonize their provisions, and that the Deed of Trust Act (*RCW 61.24*,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In *Trujillo*, the Supreme Court reversed in part and remanded for further proceedings Appellant's CPA claims the decision of the Court of Appeals reported at 181 Wn.App. 484, 326, P.3d 768 (2014). A copy of the Supreme Court decision in *Trujillo* of August 20, 2015 is attached hereto in the Appendix at *Appendix "B"*. Citation to *Trujillo* is to this version.

et seq.) (hereinafter "DTA") be strictly construed in favor of the borrower, thus meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

B. Whether the subject decision determining the Declaration of Carmella T. Norman Young: (1) is admissible for the purposes of CR 56(e) and RCW 5.45, et seq., and/or (2) if so, is sufficient to establish that Respondent, SUNTRUST MORTGAGE, INC (hereinafter "SunTrust") is the owner and actual holder of the subject obligation entitling it to appoint Respondent, NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC. (hereinafter "NWTS") as successor trustee when the hearsay Declaration characterize the nature of documents not attached contrary to the Supreme Court's decision in State v. Fricks, 91 Wn.2d 391, 397, 588 P.2d 1328 (1979) (hereinafter "Fricks"), thus meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

C. Whether the subject decision's reliance on averments in the Declaration of Carmella T. Norman Young purporting to attest to the "holder" or "loan servicer" of the note is incompetent to establish any agency relationship with Respondent, FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION (hereinafter "Fannie Mae") to whom the Note and Deed of Trust was purportedly sold in October of 2008 (CP 60 121, and 255), because agency may only be proved upon declarations or acts of the principal rather than the purported agent, contrary to Supreme Court precedent, meriting review pursuant to *RAP 13.4(b)(1)*.

D. Whether the subject decision affirming the trial court's denial of Mr. Bowman's request for additional discovery to challenge Respondents' Motions for Summary Judgment was contrary to existing precedent, thus meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

E. Whether NWTS violated its duty of good faith to Mr. Bowman by relying on a Beneficiary Declaration (CP 171) that was not executed by either the owner or actual holder of the debt without verifying the ownership of the subject obligation and Respondents' right to foreclose is contrary to Lyons, Trujillo and other precedent of this Court, thus meriting review of this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

F. Whether the subject Beneficiary Declaration is ambiguous in that it identifies SunTrust as merely the "holder" of the obligation rather than the "actual holder", in violation of  $RCW \ 61.24.030(7)(a)$ , meriting review of this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

G. Whether the subject decision holding that substantial evidence of a violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act (*RCW 19.86, et seq.*) (hereinafter "CPA") did not existed, in view of the fact that: (1) the Beneficiary Declaration relied upon by the foreclosing trustee, NWTS, was not executed by either the owner or actual holder of the subject obligation and could not be reasonably relied upon to comply with the provisions of *RCW 61.24.030(7)(a)*; (2) NWTS unreasonably relied on an Assignment of Deed of Trust of an ineligible beneficiary (MERS); (3) NWTS unreasonably relied upon an Appointment of Successor Trustee that was not executed by either the owner or actual holder of the subject obligation without verifying the validity of the document; (4) NWTS ignored the competing claims by various entities as "beneficiary" and failed to verify the ownership of the obligation; (5) relied on

improperly dated and notarized documents and issued documents that improperly identified the owner and holder of the subject obligation and materially failed to comply with various provisions of the DTA; and (6) Respondents failed to obtain authority from the true and lawful owner and actual holder of the obligation (purportedly Fannie Mae – CP 60, 121 and 255), before initiating foreclosure and the Supreme Court precedent in *Bain, Trujillo, Klem v. Washington Mutual Bank,* 176 Wn.2d 771, 295 P.3d 1179 (2013) (hereinafter "*Klem*"), and *Lyons*, thus meriting review of this Court under *RAP*  $13.4(b)(1).^2$ 

H. Whether any or all of the issues set forth above are of substantial public interest, thus meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

### IV. Statement of the Case.

On September 5, 2008, Mr. Bowman executed a Promissory Note and Deed of Trust in favor of SunTrust. The Deed of Trust named Washington Administrative Services, Inc., as trustee, and Respondent, MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC. (hereinafter "MERS"), as beneficiary, solely as a nominee for Lender and Lender's successors and assigns. CP 18-36. At no time prior to closing or any time thereafter was Mr. Bowman allowed to modify or renegotiate any of the terms of the Deed of Trust at time of closing. CP 292.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See footnote 3, below.

At no time relevant to this cause of action did MERS or NWTS own or hold an interest in Mr. Bowman's loan or Promissory Note.

On or about October 1, 2008, and unbeknownst to Mr. Bowman at the time, Fannie Mae purchased Mr. Bowman's loan. CP 60, 121 and 255.

On March 16th, 2012, Alicia James-Mickleberry, an employee of SunTrust, executed a Corporate Assignment of Deed of Trust, on behalf of MERS, in her purported official capacity as a Vice President of MERS. This assignment was allegedly executed in exchange for "good and valuable consideration," although the amount and source of the consideration offered was never revealed to the trial court. In addition to assignment of the subject Deed of Trust, this assignment appears to also assign the underlying obligation, which MERS never had an interest in: "... the Said Assignor [MERS] hereby assigns unto the above-named Assignee [SunTrust] . . . the said Deed of Trust having an original principal sum of \$417,000.00 with interest, secured thereby, with all moneys now owing or that may hereafter become due or owing in respect thereof. ... " CP 43. As noted above, at the time this Corporate Assignment of Deed of Trust was executed, the subject obligation was actually owned by Fannie Mae. No evidence of authority for this Assignment of Deed of Trust from Fannie Mae was ever offered to the trial court.

5

On July 23, 2012, SunTrust executed and delivered to NWTS a Beneficiary Declaration ambiguously stating that it is merely the "holder" as opposed to the "actual holder" of Mr. Bowman's Note. CP 171.

On August 14, 2012, NWTS issued a Notice of Default, as agent for SunTrust. CP 45-48. The Notice of Default alleged SunTrust to be the "beneficiary" of the Deed of Trust", but also identifies SunTrust as the "servicer" and NWTS' "client". Remarkably, the Notice of Default identifies, for the first time, Fannie Mae was the "owner" of the loan, although in other documents, Fannie Mae is identified as the "investor". CP 306. There is no evidence before the trial court that SunTrust was ever the owner and actual holder of the subject Note after October 1, 2008 and no testimony from Fannie Mae that SunTrust or NWTS were ever agents for Fannie Mae.

On November 5, 2012, SunTrust, as "present beneficiary" of the subject obligation, executed and recorded an Appointment of Successor Trustee, appointing NWTS as successor trustee of the subject Deed of Trust. CP 53.

On November 29, 2012, NWTS recorded a Notice of Trustee's Sale setting a Trustee's Sale date of March 29, 2013. CP 55-58. Although the Notice of Trustee Sale was executed by Nanci Lambert, in her capacity as Assistant Vice President for NWTS, on <u>November 19</u>, <u>2012</u>, the document was not notarized until <u>November 27, 2012</u>, by Ashley A. Hogan. Submitted with the Notice of Trustee's Sale was a Notice of Foreclosure that did not strictly conform to *RCW 61.24.040(2)*, in that it failed to identify the "owner of the obligation", but merely identified SunTrust as the entity to whom Mr. Bowman was obligated, in contradiction to the statement contained in the Notice of Default of August 14, 2012 that declared the owner to be Fannie Mae. Please compare CP 47 with CR 497.

On March 14, 2013, Mr. Bowman filed this action for violation of the DTA, violation of the CPA, and violation of *RCW 9A.82, et seq.* CP 1-66.

On or about May 22, 2013, Respondents moved for summary judgment, pursuant to *CR 56*, to dismiss Mr. Bowman's claims, despite the existence of outstanding discovery and limited time to conduct depositions. CP 188-260; 300-563. Remarkably, in its pleadings SunTrust offered a copy of Mr. Bowman's Note that bears an undated blank endorsement by SunTrust. CP 260.

On July 12, 2013, the trial court granted Respondents' motions for summary judgment. CP 716-720. This appeal followed. CP 741-749.

On August 5, 2013, this Court filed its opinion in the matter of *Walker v. Quality Loan Service Corp.*, 176 Wn.App. 294, 308 P.3d 716 (2013) (hereinafter "*Walker*").

V. Argument and Authority.

A. Review should be granted to determine the validity of the Court of Appeals' holding that the foreclosing trustee need not have proof ownership of the note before recording a notice of trustee's sale as required under RCW 61.24.030(7)(a).

The issue of the trustee's possession of proof of ownership of the Note herein is the same issue that was the subject of review in *Trujillo.*<sup>3</sup> The subject decision relies extensively on the Court of Appeals' decision in *Trujillo* (181 Wn.App. 484), recently reversed by the Supreme Court, in two respects: (1) it claims that Mr. Bowman's evidentiary challenges to the Declaration of Carmella T. Norman Young is immaterial insofar as it creates material issues of fact as to the ownership of Mr. Bowman's Note; and (2) discounts the duty of the NWTS to act in good faith to determine whether the claimed beneficiary is the owner of the Note as well as the actual holder, with authority to foreclose. See *Lyons* and *Trujillo*.

The subject decision raises an issue of public importance as to whether all provisions of the DTA, specifically  $RCW \ 61.24.030(7)(a)$ ,<sup>4</sup> should be so

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> It has been Mr. Bowman's contention throughout these proceedings that only the true and lawful owner and actual holder of a note and deed of trust has the right to foreclose under the DTA. CP 542-550. This issue was addressed in *Bain* and *Lyons* and is currently before this Court in *Brown v. Department of Commerce*, Case No. 90652-1 (hereinafter "*Brown*"). The arguments in support of this contention are outlined in the Brief of Appellant in *Brown*, attached hereto at *Appendix "C"*, and the Revised *Amicus* Brief filed by Coalition for Civil Justice in the *Trujillo* matter, attached hereto at *Appendix "D"*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> *RCW 61.24.030(7)(a)* and *(b)* provides as follows:

<sup>(</sup>a) That, for residential real property, before the notice of trustee's sale is recorded, transmitted, or served, the trustee shall have proof that the beneficiary is the <u>owner</u> of any promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust. A declaration by the beneficiary made under penalties of perjury stating that the beneficiary is the actual holder of the promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust shall be sufficient proof as required under this subsection.

construed and interpreted so as to avoid rendering the language of the statutes superfluous and to harmonize their provisions for the benefit of all borrowers in the State of Washington. *Gilbert H. Moen Co. v. Island Steel Erectors, Inc.,* 128 Wn.2d 745, 762, 912 P.2d 472 (1996); *In re Detention of C.W.,* 147 Wn.2d 259, 272, 53 P.3d 979 (2002); *State v. Johnson,* 179 Wn.2d 534, 546-547, 315 P.3d 1090 (2014).

 $RCW \, 61.24.005(2)$  defines the term "beneficiary" as the "holder of the instrument," but does not define the term "holder".  $RCW \, 61.24.030(7)(a)$  does not reference the "holder", but the "actual holder", without defining that term either. The statutory command of  $RCW \, 61.24.030(7)(a)$  that as a prerequisite to sale the foreclosing trustee have proof that the beneficiary is the owner, can only be read to mean that the actual holder must be the owner to render a consistent interpretation of the statute as a whole. Harmonizing the language of  $RCW \, 61.24.005(2)$  and  $RCW \, 61.24.030(7)(a)$  merits Supreme Court review and resolution.

The subject Beneficiary Declaration of October 18, 2012 at issue herein ambiguously states that SunTrust is merely the "holder", which could include a thief under RCW 62A.3-301, rather than "actual holder" as statutorily mandated under RCW 61.24.030(7)(a), and is contradicted by the evidence of the sale of the obligation to Fannie Mae on October 1, 2008. CP 60, 121 and 255. Given the Supreme Court's decision in *Trujillo* and in anticipation of its decision in

<sup>(</sup>b) Unless the trustee has violated his or her duty [of good faith] under RCW 61.24.010(4), the trustee is entitled to rely on the beneficiary's declaration as evidence of proof required under the subsection. (Emphasis added)

Brown, the remedy here may be to remand this matter to the Court of Appeals for reconsideration, or may simply be to grant review on all issues, insofar as the subject decision conflicts with *Trujillo*, *Bain*, and *Lyons*, pursuant to *RAP* 13.4(b)(1). This issue is of substantial public importance under *RAP* 13.4(b)(4)because this is a much litigated issue and is currently before the 9<sup>th</sup> Circuit Court of Appeals in the matter of *Meyers v. NWTS*, 9<sup>th</sup> Circuit Case No. 15-35560.

# B. Review should be granted to determine whether hearsay narrative statements may be admitted under the Business Records Act (RCW 5.45.020) and contrary to CR 56(e).

The facts upon which the trial court relied on summary judgment were set out in the Declaration of Carmella T. Norman Young of April 26, 2013 (CP 254-260, to which Mr. Bowman made timely objection. CP 286-288. The issue presented for review is whether CR 56(e)'s requirement that summary judgment declarations be based on personal knowledge and set forth matters admissible into evidence may be circumvented by a hearsay narrative declaration characterizing "business records", rather than laying a proper foundation for the receipt of the records characterized and relied upon into evidence.

All Ms. Young says about the basis of her "personal knowledge" is her "review of records regularly kept by SunTrust in the course of business with which [she] is personally familiar," without identifying the specific documents she is referring to. CP 254. Unfortunately, Ms. Young neither provided the trial court the documents actually reviewed or facts that would establish the reliability of the information provided. See *RCW 5.45.020*; *State v. Smith*, 16 Wn.App. 425, 558 P.2d 265 (1976) and *State v. Kane*, 23 Wn.App. 107, 594 P.2d 1357 (1979). Under *CR 56(e)*, conclusory statements or "mere averment" that the affiant has personal knowledge is insufficient to support a motion for summary judgment. *Blomster v. Nordstrom, Inc., supra;* Editorial Commentary to *CR 56* (citing *Antonio v. Barnes*, 464 F2d 584, 585 4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1972).

Many of the records reviewed and relied upon by Ms. Young were necessarily prepared, compiled and maintained by third parties, such as MERS and Fannie Mae. Such third-party records must be separately authenticated by the third party who compiled the records to meet the business records exception to the hearsay rule and meet the requirement that such testimony be based on personal knowledge from the third party's records custodian to satisfy each of the elements of *RCW 5.45.020. State v. Weeks*, 70 Wn.2d 951, 953, 425 P.2d 885 (1967); *MRC Receivables Corp. v. Zion*, 152 Wn. App. 625, 631 & n. 9, 218 P.3d 621 (2009). For example, Ms. Young states: "the records I am relying upon for this information are records that are regularly kept by SunTrust in the course of business, made at or near the time of the acts, conditions or events reflected in the records, and regularly relied upon by SunTrust for the information about which I am now testifying." CP 255. But what records is she referring to and how does she know how they were created, maintained and used? Ms. Young doesn't say.

Ms. Young goes on to state that SunTrust "sold" the loan to Fannie Mae on or about October 1, 2008 without providing the transfer documents. CP 255. Ms. Young's hearsay narrative statement was not offered and relied upon by the trial court to authenticate business record or offer them into evidence, but was offered to set forth her hearsay version of events acquired from third party sources and not based on her personal knowledge. If some business record indicates what Ms. Young says it does, then the proper procedure would be to offer the document into evidence after laying a proper foundation – not to testify about what the document says or, much less, what it means. This is a serious but not uncommon departure in these kinds of cases<sup>5</sup> and from Supreme Court precedent, justifying review under *RAP 13.4(b)(1)*. *Fricks*, at page 391, is on point.

The rolling narrative hearsay from Ms. Young without the offering a single document to support her testimony was the sole basis upon which the trial court concluded that Mr. Bowman was in default, that SunTrust was the holder of the obligation with the right to initiate non-judicial foreclosure proceedings against Mr. Bowman and appoint NWTS as successor trustee, despite the apparent transfer of ownership to Fannie Mae in October of 2008. CP 60, 121 and 255. But, Ms. Young's testimony was rank hearsay and the subject decision affirming this testimony contradicts opinions of this Court, justifying review under *RAP 13.4(b)(1)* and, given the number of wrongful foreclosure cases before the courts of this state in which similar testimony is offered by the mortgage lending industry, is of substantial public importance justifying review under *RAP 13.4(b)(4)*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See McDonald v. OneWest, 929 F. Supp. 2d 1079, 1090-1091 (2013).

C. Review of the subject decision should be granted because the opinion permitted an alleged agent (holder) to establish its agency by an employee's declaration rather than the words and actions of its alleged principal, contrary to this Court's precedent, justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

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