RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Oct 08, 2015, 2:44 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 92211-0

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KELLY BOWMAN,

Appellant/Plaintiff,

٧.

SUNTRUST MORTGAGE, INC., et al.,

Respondents/Defendants.

ANSWER OF RESPONDENT NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC. TO KELLY BOWMAN'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Heidi Buck Morrison, WSBA No. 41769
Northwest Trustee Services, Inc.
Attorney for Respondent
Northwest Trustee Services, Inc.

13555 SE 36th St., Suite 100 Bellevue, WA 98006 (425) 213-5534 Phone (425) 283-5968 Fax hbuckmorrison@northwesttrustee.com

1. IDENTITY OF ANSWERING PARTY

Respondent Northwest Trustee Services, Inc. ("NWTS") hereby answers the Petition for Review of Appellant Kelly Bowman ("Petition for Review") as follows below.

II. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT

NWTS requests that the Washington Supreme Court decline to accept discretionary review of the unpublished decision in *Bowman v. SunTrust Mortgage*, *Inc.*, *et al*, 2015 WL 4730115, (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 10, 2015) (unpublished).

III. FACTS RELEVANT TO THE PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. Factual History.

On or about September 4, 2008, Appellant Kelly Bowman ("Bowman") executed a promissory note (the "Note") in the amount of \$417,000.00, payable to SunTrust Mortgage, Inc. ("SunTrust"). CP 258-260. The Note is indorsed in blank, and SunTrust has maintained physical possession of the Note since September 2008. CP 255.

Bowman secured repayment of the Note with a deed of trust ("Deed of Trust"). CP 205-219. On September 11, 2008, the Deed of

Trust was recorded with the King County Auditor, and encumbered real property located in King County (the "Property"). *Id*.¹

On June 1, 2010, Bowman defaulted on the terms of the Note and Deed of Trust when he failed to make any further required loan payments. CP 221-223; CP 255, ¶ 5; CP 665, ¶ 6.

On July 11, 2012, NWTS received a referral from SunTrust to commence a nonjudicial foreclosure of the Property. With the referral, NWTS received a copy of the Note (payable to SunTrust) and the Deed of Trust. CP 636.

On July 23, 2012, SunTrust executed a sworn declaration (the "Beneficiary Declaration") stating that it was the holder of the Note. CP 220. NWTS received the Beneficiary Declaration on August 10, 2012. CP 636.

Almost one month later, on August 14, 2012, NWTS sent a Notice of Default to Bowman. CP 221-223. Attached to the Notice of Default was the "Foreclosure Loss Mitigation Form", executed by SunTrust, which averred, under the penalty of perjury that "SunTrust Mortgage, Inc. is the

¹ On March 26, 2012, an Assignment of Deed of Trust in favor of SunTrust was recorded under King County Auditor's No. 20120326000276, and a corrective Assignment – to add a co-borrower's name – was later recorded under King County Auditor's No. 20121025000009. CP 42, CP 49-50 (respectively).

beneficiary and is the actual holder of the promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust." CP 6; CP 48.²

On November 5, 2012, SunTrust executed an appointment of successor trustee ("Appointment of Successor Trustee") document, naming NWTS successor trustee under the Deed of Trust and vesting NWTS with the powers of the original trustee. CP 224. The Appointment of Successor Trustee became effective on November 8, 2012, when it recorded under King County Auditor's No. 20120608001749. *Id.*

On November 29, 2012, a Notice of Trustee's Sale was recorded with the King County Auditor, setting a sale date of March 29, 2013. CP 225-228. The sale was subsequently postponed, and ultimately did not occur. CP 232-233; CP 863, ¶ 2.

Bowman never communicated with NWTS from the date of SunTrust's foreclosure referral (July 11, 2012) through the date he initiated legal action against NWTS on March 19, 2013. CP 637

B. <u>Procedural History.</u>

On March 14, 2013, Bowman filed a Complaint against SunTrust, Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae), Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., NWTS, and "Doe Defendants 1-10." CP 1-62.

² The "Foreclosure Loss Mitigation Declaration" was dated July 21, 2012. CP 6; CP 48.

On July 12, 2013, the trial court granted summary judgment to all Defendants. CP 716-720. This appeal followed. CP 722.

On August 10, 2015, the court of appeals, Division 1, affirmed the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of Respondents on all claims. *Bowman v. SunTrust Mortgage, Inc.*, No. 70706-0-I, 2015 WL 4730115, at *1 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 10, 2015) (unpublished). Appellant now seeks review by this Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

IV. ANSWER TO ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. The court of appeals decision in this case at bar does not conflict with any Supreme Court precedent, including *Bain v*.

 Metropolitan Mortg. Group, Inc., 175 Wn.2d 83 (2012), Trujillo v.

 Northwest Trustee Services, Inc., -- Wn.2d --, 355 P.3d 1100 (2015); and Lyons v. U.S. Bank Nat. Ass'n, 181 Wn.2d 775, 336 P.3d 1142 (2014)

 because (1) the uncontroverted evidence demonstrated SunTrust's authority to foreclose as the beneficiary and (2) that NWTS had in its possession adequate proof of SunTrust's beneficiary status upon which it was entitled to rely.
- 2. The declaration submitted by SunTrust was admissible and competent evidence in support of summary judgment.
- 3. The court of appeals correctly affirmed denial of Bowman's request for a continuance to conduct additional discovery when

Bowman failed to bring a motion for continuance and failed to set forth any showing of good cause for such a continuance.

- 4. The court of appeals correctly held that NWTS did not violate its duty of good faith.
- 5. The court of appeals did not err in granting summary judgment to NWTS on Bowman's Consumer Protection Act ("CPA") claim, and that decision was properly affirmed on appeal.
- 6. The issues presented by Bowman in this case are not of substantial public interest.

V. AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT

NWTS incorporates the argument section of the Answer to

Bowman's Petition for Review by SunTrust, Mortgage Electronic

Registration Systems, Inc. ("MERS"), and Federal National Mortgage

Association ("Fannie Mae") already submitted in this case.

A Standard of Review.

Discretionary acceptance of a decision terminating review is appropriate in only four narrowly prescribed circumstances. RAP 13.4(b). The Washington Supreme Court accepts a petition for review only if: (1) the court of appeals' decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court; (2) the decision conflicts with another appellate decision; (3) the

case involves a significant question of constitutional law; or (4) the decision involves "an issue of substantial public interest." *Id*.

The Court should not accept review under RAP 13.4(b) in the case at bar. The issues here are covered by established case law and are narrow, discrete, and specific to the facts of this particular matter.³

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict With Supreme Court Precedent.

Bowman contends that the court of appeals' decision affirming the trial court conflicts with the Supreme Court decisions in *Trujillo*, *Lyons*, and *Bain*. Petition for Review, at *10. However, this Court should not accept review under RAP 13.4(b) because the court of appeals' unpublished decision does not conflict with this Court's holdings in *Bain*, 175 Wn.2d 83, *Trujillo*, 355 P.3d 1100, or *Lyons*, 181 Wn.2d 775.

In recent decisions, this Court has interpreted the definition of "Beneficiary" as found at RCW 61.24.005(2), which provides that a "Beneficiary" of a deed of trust is the "holder of the instrument." see also Bain. This Court has also addressed RCW 61.24.030(7)(a), which addresses certain prerequisites to nonjudicial foreclosure. See Trujillo and Lyons. In the present case, the court of appeals correctly applied the

6

³ Bowman addresses only the first and fourth criteria. Petition for Review at 1-4.

precedents established in the aforementioned cases. On this basis, no review under RAP 13.4(b) is warranted.

In *Bain*, this Court held that to foreclose under Washington's Deed of Trust ("DTA") and in accordance with the Uniform Commercial Code ("UCC"), "a beneficiary must either actually posses the promissory note or be the payee." *Bain*, 175 Wn.2d, at 104. This Court explained that "the legislature meant to define 'beneficiary' to mean the actual holder of the promissory note or other debt instrument." *Id.* at 101.

In *Lyons*, this Court acknowledged that for purposes of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a),⁴ a declaration "stating that the beneficiary is the actual holder of the promissory note" is sufficient evidence for the trustee to rely upon before recording a notice of trustee's sale. *Lyons*, 181 Wn.2d at 790.⁵ Moreover, the *Lyons* Court concluded that only if "there [was] an indication that the beneficiary declaration might be ineffective," would any additional duty of investigation arise. 181 Wn.2d at 790.

-

⁴ RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) reads: "[t]hat, for residential real property, before the notice of trustee's sale is recorded, transmitted, or served, the trustee shall have proof that the beneficiary is the owner of any promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust. A declaration by the beneficiary made under the penalty of perjury stating that the beneficiary is the actual holder of the promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust shall be sufficient proof as required under this subsection.

⁵ This Court acknowledged that numerous other forms of proof could satisfy the requirement under RCW 61.24.030(7)(a). *Lyons*, 181 Wn.2d at 790.Indeed, here in addition to the unambiguous declaration, NWTS also had a copy of the Note payable to SunTrust. CP 636.

In *Trujillo*, this Court further interpreted RCW 61.24.030(7)(a), holding that a beneficiary declaration stating the beneficiary "could be the 'actual holder' 'or' it could be something else" was ambiguous and insufficient evidence upon which the trustee could rely. *Trujillo*, 355 P.3d 1100, 1106-07.

The court of appeals' decision does not conflict with *Bain*, because SunTrust did, in fact, actually hold the Note at all relevant times during the entire unfinished foreclosure process, and SunTrust was the payee identified on the blank indorsed Note. CP 255; CP 258-260.

The court of appeals' decision also does not conflict with *Lyons* or *Trujillo* because the beneficiary declaration considered by NWTS is unambiguous. It identifies SunTrust as the holder of the note, without any equivocation. Furthermore, the record is devoid of any indication that NWTS was presented with evidence that contradicted or would call SunTrust's declaration into question or that any evidence actually existed that contradicted the averments made in SunTrust's declaration.⁶

⁶ Bowman argues that SunTrust's declaration was contradicted by evidence of the sale of the obligation to Fannie Mae. Petition for Review, at *9. However, Fannie Mae's ownership of the loan does not contradict a declaration by SunTrust that it holds the Note. Indeed, this Court's ruling in *Lyons* and *Trujillo* did not overrule the court of appeals' holding in *Trujillo* that ownership is not dispositive. *See Trujillo v. Nw. Tr. Servs., Inc.,* 181 Wn. App. 484, 498, 326 P.3d 768, 775 (Wash. Ct. App. 2014), as modified (Nov. 3, 2014), review granted, 182 Wn. 2d 1020, 345 P.3d 784 (2015) and rev'd in part, 355 P.3d 1100 (2015). Moreover, neither *Trujillo* nor *Lyons* distinguished or criticized Washington's UCC provision that "[a] person may be a person entitled to enforce the

that despite RCW 61.24.030(7)(a)

Indeed, in both *Trujillo* and *Lyons*, this Court remanded claims based on the presence of an "ambiguous" beneficiary declaration, while this case involves no such evidence. CP 6, 48, 220, 636.

Bowman also argues NWTS could not rely on the beneficiary declaration in this case because the declaration states SunTrust is the "holder" rather than the "actual holder." Petition for Review, at *9.7 Not only is this a red herring, it is contradicted by the record.

First, the beneficiary declaration in the present case is accurate and does not require the word "actual." As noted *supra*, the DTA requires a trustee to have "proof that the beneficiary is the owner of any promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust" before recording a Notice of Trustee's Sale. RCW 61.24.030(7)(a). *One possible means* of

instrument even though the person is not the owner of the instrument [.]" RCW 62A.3-101. Nor did they criticize or reverse *Bain*; rather, they relied upon it.

⁷ Contrary to Bowman's assertions, neither *Trujillo* nor *Brown* addresses the propriety of a declaration stating the beneficiary is the "holder" vs. "actual holder." *Trujillo* addressed the propriety of a declaration that was "ambiguous whether the declaration proves Wells Fargo is the holder or whether Wells Fargo is a nonholder in possession or person not in possession who is entitled to enforce the provision under RCW 62A.3–301" because of the phrase "or has requisite authority under RCW 62A.3–301 to enforce said obligation" contained in the declaration. *See Trujillo*, 355 P.3d, at 1106-07. *Brown* is similarly off point as it addresses whether the entity required to participate in an FFA mediation must be both the holder and owner of the subject promissory note. Moreover, Bowman's reliance on what he believes this Court will hold in *Brown* is purely speculative and does not fall under RAP 13.4(b).

accomplishing this requirement is through a declaration averring that "the beneficiary is the actual holder of the promissory note or other obligation." *Id*; *see also Trujillo*, 355 P.3d at 1105-06.

Further, "[u]nless the trustee has violated his or her duty under RCW 61.24.010(4), the trustee is entitled to rely on the beneficiary's declaration as evidence of proof required under this subsection." RCW 61.24.030(7)(b).

The term "actual holder" is not defined in either the DTA or UCC. When a statutory term is undefined, the court should look to "the ordinary meaning of the term." *McLain v. Kent Sch. Dist., No. 415*, 178 Wn. App. 366, 378, 314 P.3d 435 (2013); *accord F.A.A. v. Cooper*, 132 S. Ct. 1441, 1450, 182 L. Ed. 2d 497 (2012) (definition of "actual damages" in Privacy Act must be considered in "the particular context in which the term appears.").

In State v. C.A.E., Division Two of the court of appeals evaluated the term "actual" in the context of a restitution order for "actual expenses." 148 Wn. App. 720, 201 P.3d 361 (2009). The majority found that "to be an 'actual expense,' it should be 'in existence,' 'present,' or 'current'." *Id.* at 727. The dissent in C.A.E. added that "actual" has two dictionary definitions: 1) "existing in fact or reality," and 2) "existing at the present or at the time." *Id.* at 732.

The term "actual" does not restrict the *manner* of being a note holder; rather, it compels an expression of *when* an entity *is* the holder. As noted above, the State Supreme Court found in *Bain* that "a beneficiary must either actually possess the promissory note *or* be the payee." 175 Wn.2d at 104 (emphasis added). It is therefore permissible to enforce the obligation as the instrument's payee regardless of where the note is physically located. *Bain*, 175 Wn.2d, at 103-104 (Making reference Article 3 of the UCC as appropriate for purpose of the Deeds of Trust Act."); *see also* RCW 62A.3-201, cmt. 1.

Defining "actual" to mean a current factual reality comports with the present tense emphasized in RCW 61.24.030(7)(a), *i.e.* the use of "is" to define the point at which a beneficiary must declare its status.⁸ In other words, 61.24.030(7)(a) requires an averment to being the "actual" holder because it directs a beneficiary to state its status at the point when the declaration *is* signed – not at some prior or future time when another entity may have been, or become, the holder. This interpretation is logical because RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) affords the assurance to a trustee of knowing who holds the note at a point before the sale notice is recorded.

⁸ Oral Argument at 22:25, Lyons v. Northwest Trustee Services, Case No. 89132-0 (May 27, 2014) (Wiggins, J.), available at

http://www.tvw.org/index.php?option=com_tvwplayer&eventID=2014050021 (statute emphasizes present tense).

Thus, a beneficiary declaration stating "holder" is no different than one using the phrase "actual holder" because it remains a sworn statement of the beneficiary's status at the time it is signed. The word "actual" is not a magic incantation that destroys a reliance on the entire declaration simply because it is omitted.

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